
SOUTHERN GROVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT NOS. 1-10 

PORT ST. LUCIE  
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

NOVEMBER 1, 2023 
10:30 A.M. 

Special District Services, Inc. 
The Oaks Center 

2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

www.southerngrovecdd1.org 
www.southerngrovecdd2.org 
www.southerngrovecdd3.org 
www.southerngrovecdd4.org 
www.southerngrovecdd5.org 
www.southerngrovecdd6.org 
www.southerngrovecdd7.org 
www.southerngrovecdd8.org 
www.southerngrovecdd9.org 
www.southerngrovecdd10.org 

561.630.4922 Telephone 
877.SDS.4922 Toll Free
561.630.4923 Facsimile

http://www.southerngrovecdd1.org/
http://www.southerngrovecdd2.org/
http://www.southerngrovecdd3.org/
http://www.southerngrovecdd4.org/
http://www.southerngrovecdd5.org/


AGENDA 
SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO.’s 1-10 

Tradition Town Hall  
10799 SW Civic Lane 

OR 
Join Zoom Meeting: 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3341025012 
Meeting ID: 334 102 5012 
Dial In at: 1 929 436 2866  
Port St. Lucie, FL  34987 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
November 1, 2023 

10:30 a.m. 
 

A. Call to Order 

B. Proof of Publication…………………………………………………………………………….....Page 1 

C. Establish Quorum 

D. Seat New Board Members/Administer Oath of Office 

E. Additions or Deletions 

F. Comments from the Public Not on the Agenda  

G. Consent Items 

1. Approval of September 6th, 2023, Regular Board Meeting & Public Hearing Minutes………Page 2 

2. Approve WA # 19-143-210; SLCFD Fire Station #20………………………………………..Page 8 

3. Approve WA # 19-144-211; Tom Mackie Blvd & Marshall Blvd – Fiber……………………Page 10 

4. Approve 2022 Bond Requestion (No. 14); District No. 5 Special Assessment Bonds, Series 
2022-1 (Community Infrastructure)……………………………………………………………Page 12 

H. Old Business 

I. New Business 

1. Consider Resolution No. 2023-25 for District Nos.1-10; Adopting Fiscal Year 2023/2024 
Final Amended Budget (Under Separate Cover)………………………………………………Page 23 

2. Consideration of Appointment to Board Vacancies 

3. Consider Resolution No. 2023-22; Election of Officers……………………………………….Page 25 

J. Administrative Matters 

1. Manager’s Report 

2. Attorney’s Report 

3. Engineer’s Report 

4. Financial Report (Under Separate Cover)……………………………………………………..Page 28 

5. Founder’s Report 

K. Board Member Comments 

L. Adjourn  

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3341025012


SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NOS. 1-10 
FISCAL YEAR 2023/2024 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING SCHEDULE 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Southern Grove Community Development District Nos. 1-10 
(“Districts”) will conduct Regular Board Meetings of the Board of Supervisors (“Board”) for the 
purpose of conducting the business of the Districts that may properly come before the Board.  The 
following meetings will be held at 10:30 a.m. at Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW Civic Lane, 
Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987 on the following dates: 

*October 4, 2023*
November 1, 2023
December 6, 2023
*January 3, 2024*
February 7, 2024

March 6, 2024 
*April 3, 2024*

May 1, 2024
June 5, 2024

*July 3, 2024*
August 7, 2024

September 4, 2024 

*Irrigation Rate Committee Meeting – 9:00 a.m.
Southern Grove CDD Meeting – 10:30 a.m.

Tradition CDD Meeting – 11:00 a.m. 

*An Irrigation Committee Meeting will take place at 9:00 a.m. at Tradition Town Hall located at
10799 SW Civic Lane, Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987 on the above dates, as indicated.*

The meetings are open to the public and will be conducted in accordance with the provisions of Florida 
law for community development districts.  Meetings may be continued to a date, time and place to be 
specified on the record.  A copy of the agenda for the meetings may be obtained from the Districts’ 
websites or at the offices of the District Manager, Special District Services, Inc., 10807 SW Tradition 
Square, Port St. Lucie, Florida. 

There may be occasions when one or more Supervisors will participate by telephone; therefore, a 
speaker telephone may be present at the meeting location so that one or more Supervisors may attend 
the meeting and be fully informed of the discussions taking place.  

Any person requiring special accommodations at these meetings because of a disability or physical 
impairment should contact the District Office at 772-345-5119 and/or toll free at 1-877-737-4922 at 
least five calendar days prior to the meeting.  If you are hearing or speech impaired, please contact the 
Florida Relay Service at 1-800-955-8770, who can aid you in contacting the District Office. 

Each person who decides to appeal any action taken at a meeting is advised that they will need a record 
of the proceedings and that accordingly, the person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the 
proceedings is made, including the testimony and evidence upon which such appeal is to be based. 

Meetings may be cancelled from time to time without advertised notice. 

SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NOS. 1-10 

www.southerngrovecdd1.org 

PUBLISH:  ST. LUCIE NEWS TRIBUNE    09/25/23 1



SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO.’s 1-10 
Keiser University – Port St. Lucie Campus 

9400 SW Discovery Way 
Port St. Lucie, FL  34987 

OR 
Join Zoom Meeting: 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3341025011   
Meeting ID: 334 102 5011 
Dial In at: 1 929 436 2866  

REGULAR BOARD MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING 
September 6th, 2023 

10:30 a.m. 
         
 

A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The Regular Board Meeting of the Southern Grove Community Development District No’s. 1-10 of 
September 6th, 2023, was called to order at 10:34 a.m. in the Keiser University Port St. Lucie Campus 
located at 9400 SW Discovery Way, Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987. 
 
B. PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
 
Proof of publication was presented that showed notice of the Regular Board Meeting had been 
published in the St. Lucie News Tribune on August 17th and August 24th, 2023, as legally required.   
 
C. ESTABLISH A QUORUM 
 
It was determined that the attendance of the following Supervisors constituted a quorum and it was in 
order to proceed with the meeting: 
 
CDD #’s 1-10   
Chairman/ Supervisor Frank Covelli: #1,2,3,5,9  Present 
Supervisor  Ricardo Mojica: #1,2,3,4,6,9  Present 
Supervisor / Vice Chair Steven Dassa: #1,2,3,5,9 Absent 
Supervisor / Vice Chair Tyler Gaffney: #1,2,5,9  Present  
Supervisor / Vice Chair David Graham: #3,4,5,6,7,8,10 Via Zoom 
Supervisor Stephen Okiye: #4,7,8,10  Via Zoom 
Supervisor Tara Toto: #1,2,9 Present 
Chairman/Supervisor  Jennifer Davis: #3,4,6,7,8,10   Present 
Supervisor Vacant: #7,8,10 - 
Supervisor Jeff Greenwalt : #7,8,10   Present 

 
Staff members in attendance were:  
 
District Manager B. Frank Sakuma, Jr.  Special District Services, Inc. 
Assistant District Manager Jessica Wargo Special District Services, Inc. 
District Manager Andrew Karmeris  Special District Services, Inc. 
District Counsel Susan Garrett Torcivia, Donlon, Goddeau & 

Rubin, P.A. 

2

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3341025011


District Engineer Kelly Cranford Culpepper and Terpening 
 
Also present were: District Engineer - Gabriel Gomez with Culpepper and Terpening   
(See attached sign-in sheet) 
 
D. APPOINT & SEAT NEW BOARD MEMBERS/ADMINISTER OATHS  
 
A Motion was made by CDD No. 7 Ms. Davis, seconded by Mr. Graham and passed unanimously to 
Appoint Elijah Wooten to Districts Nos. 7, 8, & 10 / Seat No. 5. 
 
Mr. Sakuma explained that during the last meeting on July 5, 2023, Elijah Wooten was sworn into the 
wrong Districts.  
 
Mr. Wooten was then sworn into the correct Districts - Nos. 7, 8, & 10 / Seat No. 5 and the meeting 
continued.  
 
E. ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO AGENDA  
 
Staff requested (3) items be added under New Business: 
 
1 – (J-5) WA #19-144-209; Stars & Stripes in the Park (Surface Water) 

2 – (J-6) WA #19-144-132; Heron Preserve Phases 1 & 2 – Lakes & Interconnecting Pipes 

3 – (J-7) WA #4-4-1117-S; Del Webb Phases 1 – 5; Lakes, Conservation Areas, & Interconnecting       
Pipes 
 
A Motion was made by CDD No. 1 Mr. Covelli, seconded by Mr. Gaffney and passed unanimously 
by CDD No. 1 to Adopt the agenda as amended.  
 
F. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC FOR DISTRICT ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 
There were no comments from the public.  

 
Note: At approximately 10:42a.m., Mr. Sakuma recessed the Regular Meeting and opened the Public 
Hearing on Adopting Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Final Budget. 
 
G.  PUBLIC HEARING – ADOPTING FISCAL YEAR BUDGET 2023/2024 FINAL   
            BUDGET 
 

1. Proof of Publication 
 

Proof of publication was presented that showed notice of the Public Hearing had been published in the 
St. Lucie News Tribune on August 17th & August 24th, 2023, as legally required.  
  

2. Public Comments on Adopting Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Final Budget 
 
There were no public comments.  
 

3. Resolution No. 2023-16; Adopting Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Final Budget 
 

Resolution No. 2023-16 was presented, entitled: 

3



 
 

       RESOLUTION 2023-16 
 

THE ANNUAL APPROPRIATION RESOLUTION OF THE 
SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
NO. 1 RELATING TO THE ANNUAL APPROPRIATIONS AND 
ADOPTING THE BUDGET FOR THE SOUTHERN GROVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NOS. 1-10 FOR THE 
FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING OCTOBER 1, 2023, AND ENDING 
SEPTEMBER 30, 2024.  

 
A Motion was made by CDD No. 1 Mr. Covelli, seconded by Mr. Gaffney and passed unanimously 
to Adopt Resolution No. 2023-16. 
 

4. Resolution No. 2023-18; Levying Non-Ad Valorem Assessments for Southern Grove 
CDD No’s 1-10 for the Fiscal Year 2023/2024 

 
Resolution No. 2023-18 was presented, entitled: 

 
      RESOLUTION NO. 2023-18 

 
RESOLUTION OF THE SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 LEVYING NON-AD VALOREM 
ASSESSMENTS FOR THE SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NOS. 1-10 FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 
BEGINNING OCTOBER 1, 2023, AND ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 
2024.  
  

A Motion was made by CDD No. 1 Mr. Covelli, seconded by Mr. Gaffney and passed unanimously 
to Adopt Resolution No. 2023-18. 
 
A Motion was made by CDD No. 2 Mr. Covelli, seconded by Mr. Gaffney and passed unanimously 
to Adopt Resolution No. 2023-18. 
 
A Motion was made by CDD No. 3 Mr. Dassa, seconded by Mr. Mojica and passed unanimously to 
Adopt Resolution No. 2023-18. 
 
A Motion was made by CDD No. 4 Mr. Mojica, seconded by Ms. Davis and passed unanimously to 
Adopt Resolution No. 2023-18. 
 
A Motion was made by CDD No. 5 Mr. Covelli, seconded by Mr. Gaffney and passed unanimously 
to Adopt Resolution No. 2023-18. 
 
A Motion was made by CDD No. 6 Mr. Mojica, seconded by Ms. Davis and passed unanimously to 
Adopt Resolution No. 2023-18. 
 
A Motion was made by CDD No. 7 Ms. Davis, seconded by Mr. Greenwalt and passed unanimously 
to Adopt Resolution No. 2023-18. 
 

4



A Motion was made by CDD No. 8 Ms. Davis, seconded by Mr. Greenwalt and passed unanimously 
to Adopt Resolution No. 2023-18. 
 
A Motion was made by CDD No. 9 Mr. Covelli, seconded by Mr. Gaffney and passed unanimously 
to Adopt Resolution No. 2023-18. 
 
A Motion was made by CDD No. 10 Ms. Davis, seconded by Mr. Graham and passed unanimously 
to Adopt Resolution No. 2023-18. 
 
Note: At approximately 10:47a.m., Mr. Sakuma closed the Public Hearing on Adopting the Fiscal Year 
2023/2024 Final Budget and simultaneously reconvened the regular board meeting. 
 
H. CONSENT ITEMS 
 

1. Approval of July 5, 2023, Regular Board Meeting Minutes 
 

2. Approve 2022 Bond Requestion (No. 11); District No. 5 Special Assessment Bonds,  
Series 2022-1 (Community Infrastructure) 
 

3. Approve 2022 Bond Requestion (No. 12); District No. 5 Special Assessment Bonds,  
      Series 2022-1 (Community Infrastructure) 
 

A Motion was made by CDD No. 1 Mr. Covelli, seconded by Mr. Mojica and passed unanimously by 
CDD No. 1 to Approve all item(s) under Consent.  
 
I. OLD BUSINESS 
 
There were no matters of old business to come before the Board. 

    
J. NEW BUSINESS  
 

1. Resolution No. 2023-22; Election of Officers  
 

No action was taken at this time.  
 

2. Resolution No. 2023-14; Adopting Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Meeting Schedule. 
 

Resolution No. 2023-14 was presented, entitled: 
 

                                                              RESOLUTION NO. 2023-14 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO’S. 1-10 ADOPTING THE ANNUAL MEETING 
SCHEDULE FOR FISCAL YEAR 2023-2024 

 
A Motion was made by CDD No. 1 Mr. Covelli, seconded by Mr. Gaffney and passed unanimously 
by CDD No. 1 to Adopt Resolution No. 2023-14. 

 

3. Resolution No. 2023-20; Adopting a Records Retention Policy 

5



 
Resolution No. 2023-20 was presented, entitled: 

 
                                             RESOLUTION NO. 2023-20 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE SOUTHERN 
GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NOS. 1-10; PROVIDING 
FOR THE APPOINTMENT OF A RECORDS MANAGEMENT LIAISON 
OFFICER; PROVIDING THE DUTIES OF THE RECORDS MANAGEMENT 
LIAISON OFFICER; ADOPTING A RECORDS RETENTION POLICY; 
DETERMINING THE ELECTRONIC RECORD TO BE THE OFFICIAL 
RECORD; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE.  

A Motion was made by CDD Nos. 1,2,3,5,&9 Mr. Covelli, seconded by Mr. Mojica and passed 
unanimously by CDD Nos. 1,2,3,5,&9  to Adopt Resolution No. 2023-20. 
 
A Motion was made by CDD Nos. 4,6,7,8,&10 Ms. Davis, seconded by Mr. Graham and passed 
unanimously by CDD Nos. 4,6,7,8,&10 to Adopt Resolution No. 2023-20. 
 

4. Aquatic Proposal – Midges 

A Motion was made by CDD No. 1 Mr. Covelli, seconded by Mr. Gaffney and passed unanimously 
by CDD No. 1 to Approve the proposal by Florida Green Environmental Services, for an annual service 
of the irrigation plant pond.  

 
5. WA #19-144-209; Stars and Stripes in The Park Surface Water:  

                  Connecting to the Master Stormwater System 
 

A Motion was made by CDD No. 1 Mr. Covelli, seconded by Mr. Gaffney and passed unanimously 
by CDD No. 1 to Approve WA #19-144-209. 
 

6. WA #19-144-132; Heron Preserve Phases 1 & 2 – Lakes & Interconnecting Pipes 
 
A Motion was made by CDD No. 1 Mr. Covelli, seconded by Mr. Gaffney and passed unanimously 
by CDD No. 1 to Approve WA #19-144-132. 

 
7. WA #4-4-1117-S; Del Webb Phases 1 – 5; Lakes, Conservation Areas, & 

Interconnecting       Pipes 
 

A Motion was made by CDD No. 1 Mr. Covelli, seconded by Mr. Gaffney and passed unanimously 
by CDD No. 1 to Approve WA #4-4-1117-S. 
     
K.     ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
 

1. Manager’s Report 
 
Mr. Sakuma discussed the stormwater analysis.  

 
2. Attorney’s Report 

 

6



Ms. Garrett had no further report. 
 

3. Engineer’s Report 
 

Ms. Cranford introduced Mr. Gabriel Gomez.  
 

4. Financial Report 
 
Mr. Karmeris stated that he is available for any questions.  

 
5. Founder’s Report  

 
No Founder’s report was offered. 
 
K. BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
Mr. Covelli asked about lowering the water levels in the event of a hurricane.  
 
L. ADJORNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, Mr. Covelli adjourned the meeting at 
11:00a.m. 
 
 
_________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary   Chair/Vice-Chair 
 
_________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Print Signature    Print Signature  

7



 

 

Southern Grove Community Development District 
BOARD AGENDA ITEM 

Board Meeting Date : November 1st, 2023 
 

 
Subject:   SG - SLCFD Fire Station #20  
 Work Authorization No.  WA-19-144-210 
 C&T Project No. 19-144.SG10.04.0723.W 
  
Background: 

On September 12, 2023, the Southern Grove CDD Engineer received an 
application for a Work Authorization for St Lucie Fire Station #20.  This request is 
for development of a 2.5 acre lot within CDD 10.  

 
Recommended Action: 

Approve proposed project connecting to the Southern Grove Master Stormwater 
System under the following conditions: 

1. Responding to the outstanding Request for Additional Information to the 
CDD Engineer’s satisfaction. 

 
Location:  Southern Grove Community Development District CDD.10  

 
Within Tradition Irrigation Service Area? Yes  

 
Fiscal Information:   This project does not include infrastructure dedicated to the CDD.  It is not 

expected to impact the CDD Stormwater System operational budget. 
 
Grant Related?  No  
Additional Comments: None 
 
Board Action: 
Moved by: Seconded by:  Action Taken: 
 
 
 
 
Item Prepared by: Kelly E Cranford, PE          October 9, 2023                   

8



9



 

 

Southern Grove Community Development District 
BOARD AGENDA ITEM 

Board Meeting Date: November 10th, 2023 
 

 
Subject:   SG - Tom Mackie Blvd and Marshall Blvd - Fiber  
 Work Authorization No.  WA-19-144-211 
 C&T Project No. 19-144.SG10.02.0923.R 
  
Background: 

On September 27, 2023, the Southern Grove CDD Engineer received an 
application for a Work Authorization to directional drill beneath the CDD primary 
outfall culverts.  The proposed fiber optic cable will be installed 10 feet below the 
invert of the CDD's  60-inch diameter culverts. 
 
 None of the proposed infrastructure will be operated or maintained by the CDD. 
 
  

 
Recommended Action: 

Approve proposed project connecting to the Southern Grove Master Stormwater 
System under the following conditions: 

1. Responding to the outstanding Request for Additional Information to the 
CDD Engineer’s satisfaction. 

 
Location:  Southern Grove Community Development District CDD.10  

 
Within Tradition Irrigation Service Area? Yes  

 
Fiscal Information:   This project does not include infrastructure dedicated to the CDD.  It is not 

expected to impact the CDD Stormwater System operational budget. 
 
Grant Related?  No  
Additional Comments: None 
 
Board Action: 
Moved by: Seconded by:  Action Taken: 
 
 
 
 
Item Prepared by: Kelly E Cranford, PE          October 18, 2023                   

10



11

ggomez
Text Box
211



1 

 

2022 ACQUISITION AND CONSTRUCTION ACCOUNT REQUISITION 

  

REQUISITION NO.__14__ 

 

SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5  

 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT BONDS, SERIES 2022-1 

(COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE) 

and 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT BONDS, SERIES 2022-2 

(COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE) (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) 

 

 

The undersigned, a Responsible Officer of Southern Grove Community Development 

District No. 5 (the “Issuer”) hereby submits the following requisition for disbursement from the 

2022 Acquisition and Construction Account created under and pursuant to the terms of the Master 

Trust Indenture from the Issuer to U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee (the 

“Trustee”), dated December 17, 2014, as supplemented by that certain Eighth Supplemental 

Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2022 (collectively, the “Indenture”), (all capitalized terms used 

herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in this Indenture); 

 

(A) Requisition Number: 14 

 

(B) Name of Payee: Guettler Brothers Construction LLC 

 

(C) Amount Payable: $212,583.10 

 

The undersigned hereby certifies that (check the applicable box in 1. below): 

 

1. This requisition is for a Cost of the 2022-1 CI Project payable from the 2022-1 

Acquisition and Construction Subaccount and does not include any Cost related to 

the TIM Project  __X_____ 

 

AND/OR 

 

This requisition is for a Cost of the 2022-2 CI Project payable from the 2022-2 

Acquisition and Construction Subaccount _______ 

 

AND 

 

2. Each disbursement set forth above is a proper charge against the 2022-1 Acquisition 

and Construction Subaccount or the 2022-2 Acquisition and Construction 

Subaccount, as applicable.   

 

[Include if applicable] 

 

12



2 

 

Each disbursement set forth above is made as payment of a portion of the purchase price 

for the 2022-1 CI Project or 2022-2 CI Project, as applicable, or repayment of advances for 2022-

2 CI Project, in either case, pursuant to a written agreement between the District and the other 

party named therein receiving payment and the undersigned represents that such agreement has 

not been modified or amended and is in full force and effect on the date hereof. 

 

SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5  

 

 

By:    

 Responsible Officer 

 

Date:____________________________________ 

 

The undersigned, an authorized representative of the Consulting Engineer to the Issuer, 

hereby certifies that this disbursement is for a Cost of the 2022-1 CI Project and/or 2022-2 CI 

Project, as applicable, and is consistent with:  (i) the applicable acquisition or construction 

contract; (ii) the plans and specifications for the portion of the 2022-1 CI Project and/or 2022-2 CI 

Project, as applicable, with respect to which such disbursement is being made; and (iii) the 

Engineer’s Report as supplemented and amended through the date hereof. 

 

The undersigned further certifies that (a) the improvements to be acquired with this 

disbursement will be (1) owned by the Issuer or another governmental entity and located on public 

property or within public rights of way or easements and (2) accessible by the general public and/or 

part of a public water management system; (b) the purchase price to be paid by the Issuer for the 

improvements to be acquired with this disbursement is no more than the lesser of (i) the fair market 

value of such improvements and (ii) the actual cost of construction of such improvements; (c) the 

plans and specifications for the improvements have been approved by all regulatory bodies 

required to approve them or such approval can reasonably be expected to be obtained; (d) all 

currently required approvals and permits for the acquisition, construction, reconstruction, 

installation and equipping of the portion of the 2022-1 CI Project and/or 2022-2  CI Project for 

which disbursement is made have been obtained from all applicable regulatory bodies; and (e) 

subject to permitted retainage under the applicable contracts, the seller has paid all contractors, 

subcontractors, and materialmen that have provided services or materials in connection with the 

portions of the 2022-1 CI Project and/or 2022-2 CI Project for which disbursement is made hereby, 

if acquisition or reimbursement is being made pursuant to an agreement.  

 

[CONSULTING ENGINEER] 

 

 

By:    

Name:    

Title:   

Date:  

 

13

bterpening
Text Box
Butch Terpening

bterpening
Text Box
District Engineer

bterpening
Text Box
October 16, 2023

bterpening
JPT



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-25 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NOS. 1-
10 AUTHORIZING AND ADOPTING AN AMENDED FINAL FISCAL 
YEAR 2023/2024 BUDGET, PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 190, FLORIDA 
STATUTES; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, Southern Grove Development District No. 1 (“District No. 1”) is a local 

unit of special-purpose government organized and existing in accordance with the Uniform 
Community Development District Act of 1980, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes (“Act”); and 

WHEREAS, District No. 1, along with Southern Grove Community Development 
District Nos. 2-10 (“Other Districts,” and collectively with District No. 1, the “Districts”) 
are parties to that Second Amended and Restated District Development Interlocal 
Agreement dated as of July 9, 2013, recorded in Official Records Book 3539, Page 672, of 
the public records of St. Lucie County, Florida (“District Interlocal Agreement”), whereby 
the Districts have delegated to District No. 1 the authority to act on behalf of the Districts 
with respect to development and approval of the annual budget for the Districts; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Districts are empowered to provide a funding source and to impose 
special assessments upon the properties within the Districts; and 
 
 WHEREAS, District No. 1 has prepared for consideration and approval an Amended 
Budget for the Districts. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 THAT: 
  

Section 1. The Amended Budget for Fiscal Year 2023/2024 attached hereto as  
Exhibit “A” is hereby approved and adopted. 

 
   Section 2. The Secretary/Assistant Secretary of District No.’s 1-10 is authorized to 

execute any and all necessary transmittals, certifications or other acknowledgements or writings, 
as necessary, to comply with the intent of this Resolution. 
 

PASSED, ADOPTED and EFFECTIVE this 1st DAY OF NOVEMBER 2023. 
 

ATTEST: SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NOS. 1-10 

 
 
 
By:  By:  
 Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairperson/Vice Chairperson 
 

23



Final Amended Budget 
FY:23/24 

(Under Separate Cover) 
 

 

24



RESOLUTION 2023-22 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
DESIGNATING THE OFFICERS OF SOUTHERN GROVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7, AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Southern Grove Community Development District 7 (the “District”), is a 
local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statues, being situated entirely within the St. Lucie County, Florida; and 
 WHEREAS, the initial supervisors have taken and subscribed to the oath of office per F.S. 
190.006(4); and 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (hereinafter the “Board”) now desires to organize 
by designating the Officers of the District per F.S. 190.006(6). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7: 

 
 1.  The following persons are elected to the offices shown, to wit: 
 
 Jennifer Davis Chairperson 

 David Graham Vice-Chairperson  

 B. Frank Sakuma, Jr. Secretary/Treasurer 

 Stephen Okiye Assistant Secretary 

 Elijah Wooten  Assistant Secretary 

 Jeff Greenwalt Assistant Secretary 

 2.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 1st DAY OF NOVEMBER, 2023. 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY  
 DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 7 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________   
Secretary / Assistant Secretary Chairperson 

25



RESOLUTION 2023-22 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
DESIGNATING THE OFFICERS OF SOUTHERN GROVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8, AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Southern Grove Community Development District 8 (the “District”), is a 
local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statues, being situated entirely within the St. Lucie County, Florida; and 
 WHEREAS, the initial supervisors have taken and subscribed to the oath of office per F.S. 
190.006(4); and 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (hereinafter the “Board”) now desires to organize 
by designating the Officers of the District per F.S. 190.006(6). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8: 

 
 1.  The following persons are elected to the offices shown, to wit: 
 
 Jennifer Davis Chairperson 

 David Graham Vice-Chairperson  

 B. Frank Sakuma, Jr. Secretary/Treasurer 

 Stephen Okiye Assistant Secretary 

 Elijah Wooten Assistant Secretary 

 Jeff Greenwalt Assistant Secretary 

 2.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 1st DAY OF NOVEMBER, 2023. 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY  
 DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 8 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________   
Secretary / Assistant Secretary Chairperson 

26



RESOLUTION 2023-22 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
DESIGNATING THE OFFICERS OF SOUTHERN GROVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10, AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Southern Grove Community Development District 10 (the “District”), is 
a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 1100, Florida 
Statues, being situated entirely within the St. Lucie County, Florida; and 
 WHEREAS, the initial supervisors have taken and subscribed to the oath of office per F.S. 
1100.006(4); and 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (hereinafter the “Board”) now desires to organize 
by designating the Officers of the District per F.S. 1100.006(6). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10: 

 
 1.  The following persons are elected to the offices shown, to wit: 
 
 Jennifer Davis Chairperson 

 David Graham Vice-Chairperson  

 B. Frank Sakuma, Jr. Secretary/Treasurer 

 Stephen Okiye Assistant Secretary 

 Elijah Wooten Assistant Secretary 

 Jeff Greenwalt Assistant Secretary 

 2.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 1st DAY OF NOVEMBER, 2023. 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY  
 DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 10 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________   
Secretary / Assistant Secretary Chairperson 

27



Financial Report  
(Under Separate Cover) 

 

 

28


	Cover Page 
	Agenda 
	Proof of Publication 
	Minutes 9.6.23
	WA #19-144-210; SLCFD Fire Station #20
	WA #19-144-211; Tom Mackie Blvd & Marshall Blvd - Fiber
	Bond Req No. 14 - Dist 5; Guettler Bros. Constructions
	Res. No. 2023-05; Adopting Amended Final FY:23/24 Budget 
	Final Amended Budget (Under Separate Cover)
	Res. No. 2023-22; Res. of Officers - Dist Nos. 7,8,10/Seat No. 5
	Financial Report (Under Separate Cover)



